A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Appellant 

below, respectfully asks this court to review the published decision 

of the Court of Appeals in State v. Waller, No. 79793-0-I, slip op., 

(Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, Feb. 24, 2020).  Appendix A. 

 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

RAP 2.2(b)(3) authorizes the state in a criminal case to 

appeal from “an order arresting or vacating judgment.”  Waller filed 

a motion entitled “Motion to Vacate Judgment” under CrR 7.8(b) 

because he believed the trial court had imposed sentence without 

adequate consideration of his youth.  The trial court granted his 

motion to vacate judgment and, by separate order, specifically ruled 

that it had vacated the judgment.  Should the State be permitted to 

appeal this order under RAP 2.2(b)(3)? 

 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State previously detailed the substantive facts and 

procedural history of this case when it sought direct review from 

this Court in 2018.  The Court of Appeals updated the procedural 
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history in its opinion.  Hence, the full facts and history will not be 

repeated in this petition. 

The case can be summarized as follows.  Waller killed a 

homeless man by stabbing him over 40 times in the head with 

uncommon brutality.  He received an aggravated sentence of 36 

years.  He did not seek an exceptional mitigated sentence based 

on youth because at the time of sentencing he still denied 

participation in the crime.  After direct appeal in state court, multiple 

personal restraint petitions, and federal habeas corpus review, his 

convictions and sentence remained in place.  Waller, slip op. at 2-3. 

In 2018, Waller filed a CrR 7.8 motion to vacate his judgment 

under the authority of In re Pers. Restraint of Light-Roth, 200 Wn. 

App. 149, 401 P.3d 459 (2017) and State v. O’Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 

358 P.3d 359 (2015), alleging that the sentencing judge erred by 

failing to consider his youth.  CP 38-46.  The State opposed his 

request and moved to transfer the motion to the Court of Appeals to 

be treated as a personal restraint petition.  CP 48-51.  The trial 

court entered an order of transfer, CP 75-76, but Waller sought 

reconsideration of that order.  CP 77-114.  The court considered 

argument from the parties in open court.  RP (6/1/18) 1-20.  It then 
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retracted its transfer order and granted Waller’s motion to vacate 

judgment.  CP 116-17, 124. 

The State appealed the order to vacate this Court because 

Division One of the Court of Appeals had already effectively 

rejected the State’s arguments for appeal in a case that later 

became moot.  State v. Waller, S.Ct. No. 96051-8.  The State 

initially moved for a stay in the trial court.  The trial court responded 

with an order that made clear it had granted a motion to vacate the 

judgment. 

Mr. Waller sought relief from judgment based on a court rule, 
CrR 7.8, that provides for relief from judgment.  Thus, under 
the plain language of the court rules, it appears to this Court 
that when the State sought review of the Court’s rulings 
(granting relief from judgment), the State appealed as a 
matter of right under RAP 2.2(b)(3) (Arrest or Vacation of 
Judgment). ... Because review has been accepted, RAP 7.2 
applies.  It appears that RAP 7.2 does not provide for a 
resentencing hearing. 

 
CP 145-46 (italics in original).  This Court granted review and 

accepted briefing, but then remanded the case to the Court of 

Appeals for consideration in the first instance. 

 In the meantime, the trial court sua sponte reversed its CrR 

7.8 order vacating the judgment after it learned of this Court’s 

decision in In re Pers. Restraint of Light-Roth, 191 Wn.2d 328, 422 
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P.3d 444 (2018).  The Court of Appeals decided to issue an opinion 

even though the case was now moot.  Waller, slip op. at  

The Court of Appeals has now rejected the State’s 

appealability arguments in a published decision.  The first 11 pages 

simply recount the facts and the procedural history of the case.  

The analysis of the legal question covers a little over a page of 

discussion and, for this Court’s convenience, is copied here in its 

entirety. 

The State asserts an order granting a CrR 7.8(b)(5) 
motion for relief from judgment requesting a new sentencing 
hearing to consider evidence of youth is "a ruling that 
vacates judgment." We disagree. Neither the cases the State 
cites nor CrR 7.8(b) supports the State's assertion. 

 
In In re Personal Restraint Petition of Skylstad, 160 

Wn.2d 944, 946, 162 P.3d 413 (2007), the court held that a 
judgment is not final for purposes of the one-year time bar 
under RCW 10.73.090 when the appeal of the defendant's 
sentence was still pending. The court states that in criminal 
cases, " '[t]he sentence is the judgment.' " Skylstad, 160 
Wn.2d at 951-52 (quoting Berman v. United States, 302 U.S. 
211, 212, 58 S. Ct. 164, 82 L. Ed. 204 (1937)). The court in 
Skylstad also cites State v. Harrison, 148 Wn.2d 550, 561-
62, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003) (after defendant's "sentence was 
reversed, ... the finality of the judgment is destroyed" and 
defendant's "prior sentence ceased to be a final judgment on 
the merits"), and State v. Siglea, 196 Wn. 283, 286, 82 P.2d 
583 (1938) ("In a criminal case, it is the sentence that 
constitutes the judgment against the accused, and, hence, 
there can be no judgment against him until sentence is 
pronounced."). Skylstad, 160 Wn.2d at 950. The court in 
Skylstad concluded the mandate was not a final judgment 
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because "[a] final judgment means both the conviction and 
sentence are final." Skylstad, 160 Wn.2d at 955. 

 
In another case cited by the State, State v. Larranaga, 

126 Wn. App. 505, 506, 108 P.3d 833 (2005), we reversed 
the superior court order denying the defendant's CrR 7.8(b) 
motion for resentencing. We held the defendant had the right 
to appeal the order under RAP 2.2(a)(9). Larranaga, 126 
Wn. App. at 508-09. RAP 2.2(a)(9) expressly states a 
defendant has the right to appeal "[a]n order granting or 
denying a motion for ... amendment of judgment." Unlike 
RAP 2.2(a)(9), RAP 2.2(b) designating the limited decisions 
the State has the right to appeal does not give the State the 
right to appeal a motion to amend a judgment. 

 
It is well established that the court has the authority 

under CrR 7.8(b) to vacate a judgment and amend an 
erroneous sentence. State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d 303, 315, 
915 P.2d 1080 (1996). RAP 2.2(b)(3) gives the State the 
right to appeal an order vacating a judgment. If a court 
grants a CrR 7.8(b) motion for relief from judgment by 
amending the judgment and sentence, the State has the 
right to appeal under RAP 2.2(b)(3). But where, as here, the 
court does not amend the sentence, the judgment remains in 
effect. CrR 7.8(b). The plain and unambiguous language of 
CrR 7.8(b) states, "A motion* under section (b) does not 
affect the finality of the judgment or suspend its operation." 
The uncontroverted record establishes the court did not 
amend the judgment and sentence. The court granted 
Waller's CrR 7.8(b)(5) motion for relief from judgment 
requesting a new sentencing hearing to consider his youth at 
the time of the offense and decide whether to amend the 
judgment and sentence.  We dismiss the State's appeal. 
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D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND 
ARGUMENT 

 
This Court may review a decision of the Court of Appeals 

that conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another 

appellate court or that involves an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court.  RAP 

13.4(b)(1) - (4).  This case meets that criteria.   

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court’s 

cases where State’s appeals of resentencing orders appealed 

under RAP 2.2(b)(3) have been considered.  It also conflicts with 

this Court’s decisions on the finality of criminal judgements.  The 

decision below fails to interpret the plain language of the court rule 

and the plain language of the trial court’s underlying order.  The 

resulting decision undermines principles of finality of sentences 

imposed under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) on which the rule 

is based.  The Court of Appeals decision will undermine the finality 

of judgments, it will encourage litigants to forum-shop in filing 

collateral attacks, and it will cause uneven and inequitable 

decisions in collateral attacks around the State.  For these reasons, 

this Court should grant review and reverse the decision of the Court 

of Appeals. 
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The State argued in its briefing to this Court (considered by 

the Court of Appeals) that the plain language of the rule allows an 

appeal here.  The rule authorizes an appeal when a criminal 

judgment is vacated.  Waller’s motion expressly asked the court to 

vacate his judgment; his motion was entitled, Motion to Vacate 

judgment.  The trial court expressly granted that request—the ruling 

and a follow-up order made it clear that the court had vacated the 

judgment.  The Court of Appeals opinion simply does not grapple 

with these points. 

First, the Court did not grapple at all with the State’s primary 

argument, to wit: that the trial court’s order vacated the judgment, 

precisely as Waller had asked, and the plain language of RAP 

2.2(b) expressly authorizes appeal from a vacated judgment.  

Instead, the court looked to a completely different rule and a Court 

of Appeals decision interpreting that rule.  In State v. Larranaga, 

126 Wn. App. 505, 506, 108 P.3d 833 (2005), a defendant filed a 

CrR 7.8 motion challenging the trial court’s refusal to impose a 

Drug Offender Sentence Alternative (DOSA).  He then attempted to 

appeal that sentence.  The court in Larranaga held that the appeal 

of the denial of the CrR 7.8 motion was appealable under RAP 

2.2(a)(9) or (10) as either a motion to amend or to vacate the 
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judgment.  Larranaga, 126 Wn. App. at 509.  The Court of Appeals 

in this case failed to acknowledge that the Larranaga court had 

authorized an appeal under either prong of RAP 2.2(a).  Instead, 

the Court of Appeals here held that the State could appeal only if a 

rule identical to RAP 2.2(a)(9) existed under RAP 2.2(b). 

But this reasoning sidesteps the State’s plain language 

argument.  RAP 2.2(b) expressly authorizes appeal from a vacated 

judgment, and the trial court here vacated the existing judgment.  

An appeal from an order vacating a judgment is plainly authorized 

under RAP 2.2(b)(3).   

The decision by the Court of Appeals also fails to address 

two recent cases where this Court entertained State’s appeals from 

CrR 7.8 orders that granted resentencing.  See State v. Miller, 185 

Wn.2d 111, 371 P.3d 528 (2016) (State appealed a trial court order 

granting a new sentencing hearing); State v. Scott, 190 Wn.2d 586, 

416 P.3d 1182 (2018) (State’s appeal challenging CrR 7.8 order 

granting a new sentencing hearing). 

The decision below simply asserts that a court has the 

authority to correct an erroneous sentence, and that the trial court 

had not amended the sentence.  The decision asserts that “the 
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uncontroverted record establishes the court did not amend the 

judgment and sentence.”  Waller, at 13.   

The State respectfully, but strenuously disagrees with these 

assertions.  In part, the assertions miss the point.  The issue below 

was not whether the sentence was in error, the issue was whether 

the trial court had the authority to change an otherwise final 

sentence.  Moreover, saying that the court did not amend the 

sentence begs the question.  By granting a motion to vacate the 

judgment and reconsider the sentence, the trial court had, in fact, 

disturbed the finality of the previous sentence. 

The Court of Appeals’ reasoning is also illogical.  It seems to 

presume that the existence of RAP 2.2(a)(9) – which plainly does 

not apply to appeals by the State – necessarily precludes an appeal 

by the State under RAP 2.2(b)(3).  But the court in Larranaga held 

that Larranaga could appeal under either RAP 2.2(a)(9) or (10).  

The language of RAP 2.2(b)(3) (“An order arresting or vacating a 

judgment.”) is nearly identical to the language of RAP 2.2(a)(10) 

(“An order granting or denying a motion to vacate a judgment.”).  

There is simply no basis in Larranaga to say that a State’s appeal 

under RAP 2.2(b)(3) is prohibited when nearly identical language in 

RAP 2.2(a)(10) would authorize appeal by the defendant. 
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The holding by the Court of Appeals in Waller also sidesteps 

the State’s related arguments rooted in the finality of judgments and 

in the unity of the judgment and the sentence in a criminal case.  As 

explained by this Court nearly thirty years ago, the Sentencing 

Reform Act (SRA) emphasized the importance of determinate and 

final sentences and, accordingly, limited a trial court’s authority to 

change a sentence after judgment was entered. 

The SRA permits modification of sentences only in specific, 
carefully delineated circumstances. See D. Boerner, at 4-1 n. 
6. Authority for increasing an offender’s duration of 
commitment, for example, is provided by RCW 
9.94A.200(2)(b). Early release from confinement, on the 
other hand, is provided for in RCW 9.94A.150. 
 
Neither of these provisions provides authority for the 
reduction of Shove’s term of incarceration. Nor can authority 
be implied from the SRA’s general structure or purposes. 
Indeed, the implication from the SRA’s underlying policy that 
criminal sentences fit the offender and his offense, and from 
the careful enumeration of the circumstances where early 
release is appropriate, is to the contrary. Cf. Jepson v. 
Department of Labor & Indus., 89 Wash.2d 394, 404, 573 
P.2d 10 (1977) (“Where a statute provides for a stated 
exception, no other exceptions will be assumed by 
implication.”); In re S.B.R., 43 Wash.App. 622, 625, 719 P.2d 
154 (1986) (“[E]xpress exceptions in a statute exclude all 
other exceptions.”). We recognized as much in State v. 
Rogers, 112 Wash.2d 180, 183, 770 P.2d 180 (1989) where 
we held that RCW 9.94A.150 “prohibits early release absent 
existence of one of the statutory exceptions.” Accordingly, 
we conclude that the trial court lacked authority to modify 
Shove’s sentence. 

 
State v. Shove, 113 Wn.2d 83, 86-87, 776 P.2d 132 (1989). 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000259&cite=WAST9.94A.200&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000259&cite=WAST9.94A.200&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000259&cite=WAST9.94A.150&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1977134213&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1977134213&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1977134213&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986124720&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986124720&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989044974&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989044974&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000259&cite=WAST9.94A.150&originatingDoc=Iaa4eb438f46111d98ac8f235252e36df&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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One of the public’s prime dissatisfactions with pre-SRA 

sentencing was its lack of certainty.  Victims and the community 

were routinely told that an offender had received a long sentence, 

only to later learn that the person had been paroled and was back 

in the community.  Public confidence in the judiciary and in the 

criminal justice system suffered.  The SRA was designed to, among 

other things, bring transparency and certainty to the sentencing 

process.  An important component of that certainty is a limit on a 

judge’s authority to vacate a judgment and sentence years after it is 

imposed.  Thus, when finality and certainty is disturbed, it makes 

sense that the State is entitled to appeal, regardless of what new 

sentence is ultimately imposed.  For these reasons, the Court of 

Appeals mischaracterized the trial court’s action when it held the 

trial court had not “amended” the sentence.  An order that vacates 

the judgment and sets the case for resentencing is an order 

vacating the judgment and is plainly appealable under RAP 

2.2(b)(3). 

Finally, the Court of Appeals cited to CrR 7.8(b) and 

observed that the express language of the rule provided that a 

motion under the rule did not affect the operation of the judgment.  

Waller, at 13.  This assertion is true, but irrelevant.  That sentence 
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in CrR 7.8 simply makes clear that the filing of a CrR 7.8 motion 

does not, itself, affect the finality of a judgment.  But the State is not 

appealing from the filing of a motion.  The State is appealing from 

the filing of a ruling on the motion.  The cited language in CrR 7.8 

does not undercut the State’s argument.  The question presented is 

the appealability of a ruling, not the appealability of a motion. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals will also encourage 

forum shopping and uneven decisionmaking in collateral attacks 

filed in trial courts or appellate courts.  The personal restraint 

petition was created to establish a unitary system for adjudicating 

collateral attacks.  In re Pers. Restraint of Runyan, 121 Wn.2d 432, 

440, 853 P.2d 424 (1993); Toliver v. Olsen, 109 Wn.2d 607, 610, 

746 P.2d 809 (1987).  Attacks may be filed in trial courts, but the 

rules encourage transfer to the Court of Appeals and the standards 

for adjudicating the merits are the same.  If the Court of Appeals 

decides that a petitioner is entitled to relief, as it did in Light-Roth, 

the State may seek immediate review of that decision by this Court 

without having to first conduct a sentencing hearing.  See RAP 

13.4.  Under the Court of Appeals decision in Waller, however, the 

State cannot seek immediate review when relief is granted in a trial 

court.  Rather, the State must wait until after the victims and / or 
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surviving family members are put through the trauma of a 

resentencing hearing. 

Beyond inflicting new pain on the victims, there are systemic 

problems created by this decision.  It will undermine the intent of 

the PRP rules for a unitary system of adjudication by providing a 

distinct advantage to filing a collateral attack (at least one dealing 

with sentencing) in the trial court instead of the appellate court.  

Interpretations of rules that give a tactical advantage in one forum 

encourage forum shopping. 

Finally, the fact that this case is moot should not influence 

this Court’s decision to grant review.  As the Court of Appeals 

already determined, this case involves the interpretation of an 

important court rule (a plainly public matter), an authoritative 

determination will provide guidance for courts, and the situation is 

likely to recur.1  Waller, slip op. at 10.  The Court of Appeals has 

now issued a published opinion on the matter that will bind 

appellate and trial courts.  Still, an authoritative decision is needed 

from this state’s court of last resort.  Given the flaws identified in the 

 
1 Another case is pending decision in the Court of Appeals raising this issue.  
State v.Parker. No. 78551-6.  And, as this Court is aware from recent cases 
before this Court, the issue had recurred with some frequency in the past few 
years.  See, e.g., State v. Garrison, COA No. 77333-0-I. 
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lower court’s opinion, review is warranted even though the case is 

technically moot. 

 

E. CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, review is warranted under RAP 

13.4(b)(1) and (4).