FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/24/2020 4:11 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98326-7 (COA No. 79793-0-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANTHONY WALLER,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals appropriately construe the law and rule that a judge's decision to hold a future resentencing hearing was not an order that actually amended or vacated the sentence imposed and this preliminary ruling was not appealable of right under RAP 2.2(b)?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Anthony Waller was convicted of murder in the first degree, a crime he committed when he was 21 years old in 1999. The judge sua sponte imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range. 4/7/00RP 22-23. At the sentencing hearing, no one told the court Mr. Waller was still struggling to complete high school and suffered from severe attention deficit disorder (ADHD). See CP 43, 45, 80-81.

In 2018, Mr. Waller filed a pro se motion for relief from judgment under CrR 7.8(b). CP 39-47. He argued the law had fundamentally changed governing the culpability accorded to young people based on advances in the science of brain development. *Id*.

The trial court eventually agreed to "schedule[]" a hearing on Mr. Waller's request for resentencing. CP 116-17. When the prosecution insisted the court clarify its ruling, the court explained it was ordering a resentencing hearing. CP 124. The court asked for briefing on the scope of the hearing, such as what information it could consider. CP 117. It never held this hearing, first staying its order at the prosecution's request and

later reversing its decision to hold any hearing. CP 146; Court of Appeals Slip op. 9-10.

The court initially agreed to hold a hearing because it was bound by the Court of Appeals decision in *Light-Roth*, which ruled that a retroactive change in the law construing the availability of exceptional sentences below the standard range entitled young adults to new sentencing hearings. *In re Pers. Restraint of Light-Roth*, 200 Wn. App. 149, 401 P.3d 459 (2017), *reversed by*, 191 Wn.2d 328, 422 P.3d 444 (2018).

Before any hearing occurred, the court stayed the proceedings at the prosecution's request once it filed this appeal. CP 146. Initially, the prosecution sought direct review in this Court, bypassing the Court of Appeals. S.Ct. No. 96051-8. After receiving briefing, this Court declined direct review and transferred the case to the Court of Appeals.¹

¹ The petition for review mistakenly claims this Court "granted" direct review. In fact, this Court received the prosecution's request for direct review under RAP 4.2, set a timeline for it to file a statement of grounds for direct review followed by briefs, and noted it remained unclear whether the prosecution could directly appeal the order at issue. *See* Clerk's Letter, dated July 10, 2018, filed in S.Ct. No. 96051-8.

In the intervening time, this Court reversed the Court of Appeals decision in *Light-Roth*. After this Court's *Light-Roth* decision, the trial court sua sponte ruled it would not hold a new sentencing hearing. Court of Appeals Slip op. 9-10.

The Court of Appeals ruled the issue appealed is now moot. Slip op. at 9-10. It also ruled the prosecution does not have the right to a direct appeal of a preliminary court ruling setting a future hearing under CrR 7.8(b). *Id.* at 10-14.

E. ARGUMENT

The prosecution cannot appeal from a preliminary ruling setting a future hearing under the plain language of RAP 2.2(b) and controlling case law.

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled the court's order granting a request for a new sentencing hearing was not "a ruling that vacates judgment." Slip op. at 12. It explained, "[t]he uncontroverted record establishes the court did not amend the judgment and sentence." *Id.* at 13. The trial court did not alter the length or terms of the sentence or nature of the conviction. It did not issue a ruling that is subject to a direct appeal by the prosecution under RAP 2.2(b).

1. The prosecution does not have the right to appeal a preliminary order setting a future hearing under governing court rules and established law

"As this court has stated many times, unless authorized by statute, the State may not appeal an order that does not abate or determine an action." *State v. Smith*, 117 Wn.2d 263, 270, 814 P.2d 652 (1991). It is well established that the prosecution may not appeal a court order unless expressly authorized. *Id*.

RAP 2.2(b) dictates an exclusive list of the "only" instances where the prosecution may appeal a court decision in a criminal case. This list is different and far more limited than the orders a defendant in a criminal case may appeal. *Compare* RAP 2.2(a) *with* RAP 2.2(b). Under RAP 2.2(b), the prosecution may only appeal from a narrow set of final decisions, such as an order granting a new trial or an order vacating a judgment. RAP 2.2(b)(3), (4). It may appeal a sentence in a criminal case only if it is outside the standard range or contains a provision that is unauthorized by law. RAP 2.2(b)(6); *see also State v. Tracer*, 173 Wn.2d 708, 715, 272 P.3d 199 (2012) (explaining State's right to appeal under RAP 2.2(b)(1) where the court's action

"discontinued prosecution" and barred the State from pursuing a charge).

As the Court of Appeals recognized, RAP 2.2(b) does not authorize an appeal in the case at bar because the court had not yet decided whether it would alter Mr. Waller's sentence. Mr. Waller remained in custody, without bail, serving his sentence. The only relief the court granted was agreeing to hold a hearing on Mr. Waller's motion for relief from judgment filed under CrR 7.8. Slip op. at 13. It is "uncontroverted" that the court "did not amend the judgment and sentence." *Id*.

CrR 7.8(b) states that a motion for relief from judgment "does not affect the finality of the judgment or suspend its operation." Mr. Waller filed a motion for relief from judgment under CrR 7.8(b). Under the plain terms of this court rule, the court's consideration of this CrR 7.8(b) motion does not alter the finality of a judgment and it does not qualify as an appealable order. Contrary to the prosecution's depiction of events, considering a motion to vacate a judgment is a very different from granting that motion, and this consideration does not mean the court is vacating the judgment.

In its petition for review, the prosecution complains the Court of Appeals relied on a case that discussed "a completely different rule," *State v. Larranaga*, 126 Wn. App. 505, 108 P.3d 833 (2005). Petition at 7. But the Court of Appeals discussed *Larranaga* because it was a "case cited by the State." Slip op. at 13. The discussion of a case the prosecution relied on in its briefing is not a valid reason to fault the Court of Appeals opinion.

The Court of Appeals ruled *Larranaga* did not aid the prosecution's argument because it involved the *defendant*'s appeal, after the court denied his request for resentencing under CrR 7.8. 126 Wn. App. at 507. A different set of rules govern the defendant's right to appeal. RAP 2.2(a)(9) allows the defendant's appeal from an "order granting or denying a motion for . . . amendment of judgment," and RAP 2.2(a)(10), similarly gives a defendant the right to appeal an "order granting or denying a motion to vacate a judgment." *Id.* at 509.

The provisions of RAP 2.2(a) at issue in *Larranaga* do not apply to the prosecution in a criminal case. Instead, RAP 2.2(b) controls. RAP 2.2(b) uses different language than RAP 2.2(a)

and it does not permit the prosecution to appeal an order granting or denying a motion to amend a judgment. It only permits an appeal from the prosecution in a criminal case after a judgment is actually and affirmatively altered.

The prosecution notes two cases where it appealed court orders that set new sentencing hearings prior to the court actually pronouncing new sentences. Petition at 8 (citing *State v*. *Miller*, 185 Wn.2d 111, 371 P.3d 528 (2016) and *State v*. *Scott*, 190 Wn.2d 586, 416 P.3d 1182 (2018)). But the issue of appealability was never addressed in those cases. No one objected to the appeal, either because no one noticed the procedural flaw or the parties wanted appellate review and waived their objections.

Because these cases do not even discuss the legal theory posited by the prosecution, they cannot carve a new right for the prosecution to appeal despite the plain language of RAP 2.2(b). *See State v. Granath*, 200 Wn. App. 26, 35, 401 P.3d 405 (2017) (internal quotation omitted), *aff'd*, 190 Wn.2d 548, 415 P.3d 1179 (2018) ("An appellate court opinion that does not discuss a

legal theory does not control a future case in which counsel properly raises that legal theory.").

The Court of Appeals decision squarely applies settled law and the plain language of RAP 2.2(b). The trial court had not decided whether there was any reason to change Mr. Waller's sentence when the prosecution appealed.

Interim orders are generally subject only to discretionary review. RAP 2.3. When a court order does not constitute a final determination of a party's rights, it is appealable under the rules for discretionary review. *In re Turay*, 139 Wn.2d 379, 392, 986 P.2d 790 (1999). A final judgment under the RAPs means that the court's last action settles the rights of the parties and disposes of all issues in controversy. *State v. Taylor*, 150 Wn.2d 599, 602, 80 P.3d 605 (2003). There was no final judgment entered here. The prosecution did not seek discretionary review, presumably because it could not meet the necessary threshold showing that the court's order was both plainly erroneous and that it altered the status quo or rendered further proceedings useless. RAP 2.3(b)(1), (2).

2. The petition for review hinges on misrepresentation of the facts.

The petition for review is premised on a false pretense that the Court of Appeals appropriately rejected. The petition repeatedly insists the trial court's ruling affirmatively and specifically "vacated" the judgment against Mr. Waller. But the ruling did no such thing. Slip op. at 13. The only decision the court made was to order a resentencing hearing. CP 124. It also asked the parties to provide briefing to explain why type of evidence the court could consider at this resentencing hearing. CP 116-17. The court made no further decisions on Mr. Waller's sentence and did not decide the scope of resentencing hearing. Later, it withdrew its order granting the sentencing hearing without ever holding it.

Throughout this time, Mr. Waller has remained in custody pursuant to the original judgment and sentence.

The rule the prosecution asks to create would undermine CrR 7.8(b). It posits that all collateral attacks should be assessed by the Court of Appeals. Petition at 12. It claims anytime a judge agrees to consider a motion for relief from

judgment, the prosecution may directly appeal before the trial court assesses whether relief is warranted. *Id.* But appellate courts do not weigh in on a trial court's decision to set a future hearing. There is no reason for appellate courts to review a court ruling before the judge has even decided whether the claim has merit without meeting the discretionary review criteria of RAP 2.3(b). This Court should deny the prosecution's request to refashion RAP 2.2(b), render superfluous a trial court's authority under CrR 7.8(b), and permit appeals of non-substantive orders that simply agree to consider an issue but do not actually alter any aspect of the judgment or sentence.

The petition for review should be denied.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This Court should deny the petition for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

DATED this 24th day of April 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

Onti

NANCY P. COLLINS (WSBA 28806) Washington Appellate Project (91052) Attorneys for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,)
Petitioner,))) NO. 98326-7
v .)
ANTHONY WALLER,	
Respondent.)